PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

References in this brief to pages in the first five volumes of the record on appeal will be designated by "R," followed by the page number. References to pages in Volumes VI-XIII will be designated by "T," followed by the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 4, 1992, a Pasco County Grand Jury indicted Appellant, Donald Voorhees, and Robert Sager for the premeditated murder of Audrey Stephen Bostic.(R13-14)

Among other pretrial motions, Appellant filed a motion to suppress, on May 27, 1993.(R107-113) A suppression hearing was held before Judge Stanley R. Mills on July 1, 1993, at which testimony was taken.(R383-686) Argument on the motion was presented to Judge Mills at a hearing on July 19, 1993.(R715-794) On July 23, 1993, Judge Mills signed his order denying the motion to suppress.(R134-143)

Appellant was tried by jury on November 15-23, 1993, with Judge Mills presiding, and found guilty as charged.(R 256,T1-1337) Penalty phase was held on November 22-23, 1993.(T973-1337) By a vote of nine to three, Appellant's jury recommended that he die in the electric chair.(R313,T1325)

On January 28, 1994 a hearing was held at which Judge Mills sentenced Appellant to death.(T870-904) In aggravation, the court found that the capital felony was committed while Appellant was engaged in commission of a robbery and was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.(R358-360,T892-894) In mitigation, the court

found: (1) Appellant was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense; (2) Appellant's age of 24 at the time of the offense; (3) Appellant "did fewer physical acts which specifically inflicted pain upon the victim," than did his codefendant; and (4) Appellant was emotionally, physically and sexually abused as a child.(R361-364,T895-901) The court concluded that there existed a "reasonable and rational basis upon which the jury based its recommendation for the imposition of the death penalty," and that there were "sufficient aggravating circumstances in existence to justify the imposition of the sentence of death and that there [were] insufficient mitigating circumstances to outweigh the aggravating circumstances that [-had] been established."(R364,T901)¹

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Suppression Hearing of July 1, 1993--State's Case

Bidmer Ray Walker was a deputy sheriff in rural Wayne County, Mississippi.(R386,473) On the afternoon of January 8, 1992, he and another deputy were dispatched to investigate after a Mr. Sanderson called stating that two men had come to his house, they were wet, and they were wanting something to eat and drink.(R387,460) The deputies eventually encountered two white males dressed in camouflage.(R388-389) Walker asked the men if they had any ID. (R389) They responded that they did not, but identified

¹ Appellant's codefendant, Robert Sager, was tried separately from Appellant on May 9-13, 1994, and convicted of first degree murder. Judge Mills sentenced him to death on September 15, 1994. Sager's appeal is currently pending before this Court in Case Number 84,539.

themselves as William Stephen O'Donnell and David Alan Scott.(R389) Walker had never seen the two before, and he asked what they were doing in town.(R389-390) One of them said they were going to camp out in the Southern Ashley Forest for a few days.(R390) Their vehicle had bogged down, and they left it and set up camp.(R390) They walked off from the camp, got lost and were unable to find their way back.(R390)

It was raining, and turning dark.(R390) Walker asked the men if they would like to spend the evening in jail, where they would be given dry clothes, have their clothes washed and dried, and receive a hot meal.(R390) They, said they would.(R390)

The man who said he was O'Donnell had a kitchen knife with a 6 to 8 inch blade sticking out of his shirt.(R391) Walker asked him for it, and the man handed it to him.(R391) The two men voluntarily got into the marked police car, and Walker drove them the 20-25 miles to the sheriff's office, which was attached to the courthouse.(R392-393,395) On the way, Walker asked about the car, and the man who said he was Scott described where he had driven down a dirt road, and said the car was his girlfriend's maroon Pontiac.(R393-394) They arrived at the sheriff's office at approximately 5:00, where arrest cards were completed, which included the men's names, addresses, social security numbers, and dates of birth.(R392-393,417) The two men were placed in a cell together and given food.(R396) They were allowed to shower in the cell, and given dry uniforms to wear.(R396)

The sheriff, Marvin Farrior, thought the activities of the men at Sanderson's house were suspicious, and he was going to hold them in custody until he found out. who they were and investigated what was going on.(R495-496) If they had produced satisfactory identification, they would have been released.(R497)

It was not unusual for the sheriff's office to ask people who were lost or needed some kind of assistance if they would like to spend the night in jail.(R394,476) They had done it on numerous occasions, especially for people just traveling through, and sometimes people came in and asked if they could just spend the night.(R394,455) Before such people were allowed to go on their way in the morning, they had to identify themselves to the satisfaction of the sheriff's office.(R414,428) Walker did not inform Sager and Vooshees before they were put in the jail cell that the identification they gave would have to be satisfactory to Walker before they could depart the next morning.(R415-416)

Later that night, Walker had the names, dates of birth, and social security numbers of the two men run on the NCIC, but no record was found.(R397) Walker was thinking the men had given fictitious names, but he did not know whether what they told him with regard to their names, social security numbers and dates of birth was true or false.(R397,414)

The following morning, the dispatcher told Sheriff Farrior that the names the two men had given did not come back with anything on them, no record as to who they were.(T463)

When Walker came to work that day (January 9) about 12:30 p.m., he found a note on his desk that said that Scott had given his real name as Robert John Sager. (R398) The note also contained a date of birth and another social security number, and indicated that the information had checked out in NCIC and was accurate and satisfactory.(R398,424) Additionally, Walker learned that the man who had originally said he was O'Donnell gave a different name to one of the deputies that morning, James Earl Densmore. (R399) Walker took Densmore out of his cell and asked for a positive Densmore said that he had a friend in identification.(R399) Jacksonville, Florida who would verify his identity.(R400) Walker retrieved a computer with telephone numbers from Densmore's personal property, which was locked up.(R400) Densmore dialed a number and, when someone answered, he said, "'This is James Earl Densmore. I need you to tell this person who I am.'"(R400) Densmore handed the telephone to Walker, who advised the man on the other end who he was. (R400) The recipient of the call said he was Tony Watson, and identified the man who placed the call as Donald Joseph Voorhees. (R400) Watson asked if John Robert Sager was with Voorhees.(R401) When Walker replied in the affirmative, Watson said that a deputy Lawless from Pasco County, Florida was at his residence or job the day before trying to locate those two people, as he wanted to talk to them concerning a murder in Pasco County.(R 401) Watson gave Walker a telephone number for Detective Lawless. (R401) When Walker hung up the telephone, he asked Densmore if his name was Donald Joseph Voorhees.(R401) He said it was, and gave

Walker another date of birth and social security number.(R401) Walker told Voorhees that the Pasco County Sheriff's Department was wanting to talk to them about a murder.(R401-402) At that point, Voorhees was not free to leave; Walker was going to hold him until he found out what Pasco County wanted.(R402) He separated Voorhees from Sager, moving him to a cell on another wing called the "lunacy cell."(R402,419)

Walker then called Detective Jim Spears in Pasco County, who told him they were looking for a maroon Pontiac with a "fender messed up on it," and gave Walker a tag number.(R403) Spears asked Walker to hold the two subjects until detectives from Pasco could get there to talk to them, and Walker said he would hold them for that night.(R442) After the conversation with Spears, Walker advised Voorhees that Pasco County was wanting to talk to them about the murder, and they would be in Waynesboro sometime that night.(R403) Voorhees asked if Sager had been told.(R403) Walker said he had not, and Voorhees asked if he could tell Sager. (R403) Walker agreed and walked Voorhees back to Sager's cell.(R403-404) Sager was standing against the wall, and Voorhees told him that Pasco County, Florida was coming to talk to them about the murder. (R404) Sager slid down on the floor and slumped down.(R404) Voorhees said, "'Everything will be all right. I'll take care of it.'" (R404)

That evening, Walker informed Sheriff Farrior, who had been out of town that morning, what he had learned.(R405) The dispatcher on duty or one of the trustees told Walker that Sager wanted to

talk to him, and Sager was brought into the sheriff's office.(R405, 437-438) Sager gave a taped statement in which he talked about his involvement in the murder in Florida, implicating both himself and Appellant.(R406-407,468) When he was finished, Sager was returned to his cell.(R407)

That same evening, Benny Humphrey, a trustee who was serving a 20-year sentence for manslaughter, was carrying toilet paper to a cell in the jail when Appellant asked him if his buddy had been taken out of his cell.(R469,499) Humphrey said that, as far as he knew, he was still in the cell at that time. (R500) Appellant wanted Humphrey to give his buddy a message that everything was going to be all right, that Appellant would take the blame for all of it.(R500) Humphrey asked him what happened, and Appellant told him that he and his buddy had been riding around with a fellow and they got pretty drunk. (R500) Humphrey thought Appellant said they went back to the fellow's apartment, where Appellant passed out on the couch.(R500) When ho came to, his buddy was having a fight with the fellow. (R500) Appellant got up and pulled his buddy off. (R500) They tied the man up, and he kept making a racket. (R500) Appellant grabbed him by the hair of the head and cut his throat. After that, the person continued to make noise, and (R500) Appellant returned and jabbed him in the side of the neck with a knife.(R508)

William Lawless, detective with the Pasco County Sheriff's Office, was designated the case officer in this matter when the body of the victim was first discovered on January 4, 1992.(R513-

514) Lawless went to the scene and observed that the residence was secured, there was no indication of forced entry.(R528) The victim was hogtied with three different telephone cords, his nose was broken, and his throat was slashed.(R521,528-529) Another deputy put out a BOLO for the victim's car that day.(R524) While Lawless was at the scene investigating, a witness told him that he heard the victim's vehicle leave the victim's residence the previous night around 10:00.(R527) Lawless also learned that there had been an argument between the victim and two males about 6:30 p.m. on January 3.(R550)

On January 5, Lawless learned that the victim had been with Appellant and Sager in room 4 of the Chasco Inn, which room was registered to Robert Sager and James Densmore, on January 3 at approximately 5:00 p.m. (R525-526) A witness also told Lawless that he had heard the three men discussing going out and partying, and he saw them leave together. (R526,591) That witness and the owner of the motelsaid that Densmore was building a mortuary somewhere in town.(R534,536) Lawless went to Meadowlawn Memorial Gardens on January 6 and asked the foreman, Johnny Pheifer, if anyone had not shown up for work that day.(R534) Pheifer told him that James Densmore had not shown up, and that Densmore had a paycheck waiting for him at the home office of the construction company in Madison, Mississippi or Alabama.(R534-537) [Lawless later learned that Densmore had picked up his check at the main office that day when the office first opened for business. (R537)] Lawless obtained the name and telephone number of Densmore's sister, Brenda King, who

lived in Jacksonville, from Densmore's job application.(R535) Lawless called her, and learned that Densmore's true identity was Donald Voorhees, and learned about Sager, and learned that Appellant had a friend named Tony Watson.(R532-533,535)

BOLOs for Sager and Appellant were put out on January 5 and 6, with an update on January 7 when Lawless learned that James Densmore's correct name was Voorhees.(R524-526)

On January 6, 1992, a Detective Powers searched room 4 at the Chasco Inn with the consent of 'one of the owners, Ms. Weiskopf.(R 538-539,541) She told Lawless that the rate for the room was \$50 a week, and produced a receipt showing that \$50 was paid on December 29, 1991.(R539) Lawless had contemplated obtaining a warrant to search the room, but abandoned that idea when he learned from Weiskopf that the rent was up, apparently, on January 5.(R540) Nothing was found during the search that led to any other witnesses or evidence.(R541)

On January 8, Lawless went to Jacksonville to investigate this case.(R517) There he spoke with Tony Watson, William Slaughter, and Melanie Cooper.(R517,521) Watson said that he originally met Appellant, whom he knew as James Densmore, at his place of work, Magic Rental, in Jacksonville.(R517) Appellant had spent some time at Watson's house, and Watson drove Appellant and his brother, Johnny, to New Port Richey in the latter part of December, 1991.(R 517-518) On January 4 [1992], Appellant called Watson at approximately 1:00 a.m., and Appellant and Sager arrived at Watson's home around 5:00 a.m., acting very suspicious and nervous. (R518,594)

They were driving a two-door burgundy sedan, which matched the description of the 1984 two-door, maroon Pontiac Grand Prix that belonged to the victim.(R518-519) They stayed until the evening, then left, and Watson believed they were heading to California.(R518) William Slaughter told Lawless that in the afternoon when Appellant and Sager arrived at Tony Watson's house, Slaughter and Sager went for a walk.(R520) At the intersection of 6th Avenue and AlA, Sager pointed out a burgundy colored, two-door Pontiac Grand Prix and said that he and James had beaten a guy to the ground and made a mess of his face in New Port Richey and stolen his car, and that that was the car.(R520) Slaughter identified the car from a photopack.(R522-523). Melanie Cooper had befriended the person she knew as James Densmore when he was in Jacksonville, and she told Lawless that she received a call from him a few days after the murder saying that he was in Alabama.(R 521)

Lawless was on the way back from Jacksonville on January 9 when he was told by Detective Spears that authorities in Mississippi had arrested both suspects for trespassing.(R 516,604-605)² There was an imminent prospect of them being released.(R558) Lawless traveled to Wayne County, Mississippi that same day, arriving at the sheriff's office around midnight.(R541-542)

² Deputy Bidmer Walker testified that he never arrested Appellant and Sager for anything, nor did he hear 'anybody else arrest them at any time for anything.(R415-416) Sheriff Marvin Farrior testified that he did not arrest Sager for anything, nor did he hear anybody else arrest him for anything at any time.(R488) Although Farrior was not specifically asked whether he ever arrested Appellant for anything, he apparently did not, as he testified that he did not talk to Appellant at any point.(R496)

Lawless read Sager his <u>Miranda</u> rights, then obtained a taped statement in which Sager confessed to his involvement in the murder.(R543-544,547) Lawless then read Appellant his <u>Miranda</u> rights and obtained a taped statement in which Appellant confessed to his involvement in the offense.(R 545-547) The interview with Appellant began at 1:33 a.m., Florida time, or 2:33 a.m., Mississippi time.(R588) After the formal statement, Appellant asked if they had "found this card."(R547) When Lawless asked him what he meant, Appellant said that they had used the victim's telephone charge card at various locations, and left it at a phone booth in Alabama to try to throw the detectives off their track.(R547)

Lawless would have gotten a warrant for the arrest of Sager and Appellant when he returned from Jacksonville (R523), but it had been his experience that if a warrant was issued and executed prior to his arrival in Mississippi, this might have eliminated his chance to interview the suspects, and this was part of the reason Lawless chose to travel to Mississippi as quickly as possible to interview them.(R605) An arrest warrant was obtained on January 10, after the interviews with Sager and Appellant. (R 606)

On January 10, Appellant and Sager signed waivers of extradition before a court clerk and were taken away by the Pasco authorities.(R494,549,608) On the airplane flight back to Pasco County, Voorhees asked if Florida had the death penalty, and Lawless replied that it did.(R548) Lawless placed Appellant and Sages under arrest when they arrived back in Pasco.(R 548-549)

Also on January 10, Deputy Bidmer Walker located the vehicle

that was being sought, bogged down on forestry land.(R408-409) It was pulled out with a farm tractor.(R409)

Defense Case

Margaret Weiskopf ran the Chasco Inn in New Port Richey.(R619) On December 29, 1991, James Densmore and Robert Sager paid \$100 to stay for two weeks at the Inn.(R620-622) On direct examination, she said she showed the registration and receipt to Detective Lawless when he came to interview her.(R621-622) However, on cross she said that she only showed him the registration, which gave the rate as \$50, but did not think that she showed him the receipt (which would have shown that the men paid \$100 for two weeks). (R 624-625) Weiskopf gave Lawless consent to search Room 4 because she thought it had been abandoned.(R626-627)³

Appellant, Donald Voorhees, testified that on January 8, 1992, they [he and Sager] had become lost in the woods.(R628-629) They were wet and had \$5.01 between them.(R638,640) They were sitting in a house speaking with the owners when a pickup pulled up, followed by a marked police cruiser containing two uniformed officers with guns, one of whom was Deputy Walker.(R629-630) Appellant described Walker's attitude as "suspicious," wondering what they were doing there.(R629) Walker more or less told them to come to the jail with him so they could get cleaned up, have a shower, and get their clothes Washed.(R629) When asked Appellant's

 $^{^3}$ At the guilt phase of Appellant's trial, Weiskopf testified that she told the detectives from the Pasco Sheriff's Office that, as far as she knew, the room was still being rented to Sager and Densmore.(T446)

impression as to whether he had any choice, he responded, "The police said, let's go to the jail, we got to go to the jail."(R629) Appellant assumed they would be free to go after they got cleaned up, had their clothes washed, and got something to eat.(R630)Walker told them they could stay overnight if they chose to, but did not tell Appellant that he would have to prove who he was before he would be released. (R630) If Walker would have so informed Appellant, he would have gone, but would have taken with him a piece of identification he had on him. (R630-631) During the ride to the jail, there was some discussion about the car. (R 631) The deputy had not advised Appellant of Miranda, but was asking him where the car was, what it looked like, etc. (R631) Sheriff Farrior told them the next morning, when they indicated that they wanted to leave, that they could be released as soon as the sheriff's department established positively who they were. (R 632, 650) Deputy Walker also told Appellant that they could be released as soon as sheriff's department personnel found out who they were.(R632,650-651) Walker suggested that maybe Appellant knew someone who could identify him. (R633) Appellant was cooperating because he did not like sitting in jail. (R633)

Appellant asked Benny Humphrey, who was in civilian clothing, to pass a message to his "brother" and tell him just to keep his mouth shut, not to say anything, that Appellant would take the rap on this.(R634) Humphrey asked Appellant what he was worried about, what it pertained to, and how it happened, but Appellant did not respond.(R634) Appellant was not happy to be in the Wayne County

Jail; he talked to Detective Lawless because he "figured" that by doing so, he could "get the heck out of jail and get on about [his] business."(R634) He knew that Lawless would take him out of that jail facility back to Pasco County.(R635)

Trial --State's Case

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