IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DONALD VOORHEES,

Appellant,

VS.

CASE NO. 83,380

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee,

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR 1 1 1996

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH **ATTORNEYGENERAL**

ROBERT J. LANDRY **Assistant Attorney General** Florida Bar I.D. No. 0134101 2002 North Lois Avenue, Suite 700 Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)873-4739

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

These factors include (1) the temporal proximity of the illegal arrest and the statement; (2) the

and the elements supporting the detective's probable cause were intervening factors and the official conduct was performed in good faith. The lower court correctly reasoned that the test was satisfied. Here, a considerably longer time period had elapsed, the defendants' awareness of the Pasco murder investigation and furnishing of **Miranda** warnings were intervening factors, as were Sager's comments to Wayne County authorities and Voorhees' remarks to Mr. Humphrey, and the initial illegal detention by Mississippi authorities to discern their true names was unconnected to the Pasco County murder investigation.

In summary, applying Frown v. I 1 1 -, 422 U. S. 590, 45 L.Ed.2d 416 (1975), the lower court's order must be affirmed.

1. Temporal Proximity --

The alleged improper detention began on the morning of January 9, and lasted until the early afternoon when Tony Watson informed Deputy Walker that Pasco County officers were looking for Voorhees regarding a murder. Voorhees and Sager had the opportunity then to reflect on this turn of events until Lawless arrival at midnight -- several hours later. Cf. State v. Gifford, 558 So. 2d 444 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) (Four hour time lapse between illegal arrest and confession); United States v. Edmondson, 791 F.2d 1512 (11th Cir. 1986) (Forty-five minute gap after arrest sufficient)

2. Presence of Intervening Circumstances --

Unlike the situation presented in other cases where the accused is illegally detained as a

presence of intervening circumstances; (3) the purpose and flagrancy of the official misconduct.

suspect in the very crime being investigated to which the suspect ultimately confesses, here Voorhees and his colleague were not -- in the eyes of Mississippi officers - suspects in an ongoing investigation on the morning of January 9th.

In addition to Detective Lawless having acquired probable cause to arrest Voorhees for murder (Cf. State v. Gifford, 558 So. 2d 444 [Fla. 1st DCA 1990], where officer had no realistic alternative but to order continued detention rather than release and re-arrest), Voorhees and Sager were advised of the change in their circumstances, i.e. that Pasco authorities now focused on them regarding the Bostic homicide and -- prior to any interrogation by Detectives Lawless and Spears and without their knowledge or approval -- Sager chose to make admissions to Sheriff Farrior and Voorhees chose to make admissions to Benny Humphrey.

3. Purpose and Flagrancy of the Officers' Misconduct

There was no misconduct at all by Florida officers; they arrived as promptly as they could from Pasco County and proceeded to interview the two suspects -- after giving **Miranda** warnings -- and without even being aware Sager had spoken to Sheriff Farrior. Similarly, there was no flagrant misconduct by Mississippi officers attempting to exploit the defendants' presence, They attempted no interrogation after learning that Pasco authorities were interested in the two men regarding the Bostic homicide. Since there was no flagrant misconduct employed to derive evidence implicating Voorhees and Sager in **the Florida crime by Mississippi authorities**, appellant's challenge must fail. State v. Stevens, 574 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991).

ISSUE II

WHETHER APPELLANT'S ALLEGED ABSENCE FROM SEVERAL PROCEEDINGS BELOW VIOLATED HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO BE PRESENT.

Appellant next contends that the record does not clearly establish whether appellant was present when juror challenges were exercised at bench conferences (Tr 176 - 178, 217 - 18, 247 - 49, 263 - 64, 281 - 287, 301 - 02, 317 - 318). Appellant does not contend that there was any objection presented below pertaining to any alleged absence from the proceeding, and appellant did not assert any such error in his motion for new trial (R 332 - 335). Mr. Voorhees was present in the courtroom (Tr 27) even if he did not verbally participate on certain matters.

The instant trial occurred in November of 1993, some fourteen months prior to this Court's decision in Coney v. State, 653 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1995), wherein the Court announced a rule which was "prospective only" Id. At 1013 -- that the trial court must certify the defendant's approval of juror challenges through proper inquiry. See also Ogden v. State, 658 so, 2d 621 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), Ouince v. State, 660 Sol.2d 370 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995) (reaffirming that the Coney rule is prospective only).

Appellee respectfully submits (1) that this issue must be deemed procedurally barred or waived for the failure to complain or bring it to the attention of the trial court. See, e.g., <u>United</u>

<u>States v. Gagnon</u>, 470 U.S. 522, 84 **L.Ed.2d** 486 (1985) (defendant's failure to invoke right to be present at a conference between judge and juror constitutes a valid waiver of that right); (2) there is no <u>Coney</u> violation since the instant trial pre-dated the prospective application of the

<u>Coney</u> rule; (3) any error is harmless. See <u>Coney</u>.

Appellant also contends that he was absent during a pretrial conference held before Judge Mills on April 16, 1992 (R 839 • 847). The record reflects that the trial court desired to have Mr. Voorhees present to explain why counsel Kester was standing in for counsel Loefler who was out of town taking depositions and that defense counsel Kester suggested that it would be preferable to reschedule the matter rather than bring Mr. Voorhees in (R 843). The court agreed that this more cautious approach was preferable (R 844) and nothing substantive occurred.

Appellant also complains that he was not present on November 16, 1993, when the court and counsel were discussing a motion in limine made by the state (Tr 337 - 341). At that hearing both the state and defense announced that they intended to present no testimony (Tr 338). Trial defense counsel did not attempt to answer the court's inquiry why the defendant's presence was necessary if no testimony was to be taken and presumably acquiesced. See **Lucas v.** State, 376 So. 2d 1149, 1152 (**Fla.** 1979).

In any event, nothing transpired at this hearing since the defense insisted the state submit a written motion and the prosecutor then agreed to do the proffer later (Tr 340 - 341). While there was some discussion about witnesses and preliminary instructions (Tr 341 - 350) none of these matters required the defendant's presence. Coney v. State 653 So. 2d at 1013, Hardwick v. Dugger 648 So. 2d 100, 105 (Fla. 1994); Hall v. Wainwright, 850 F.2d 945 (11th Cir. 1986); Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97, 78 L.Ed. 674 (1934).

Voorhees contends that he was absent at the beginning of a hearing on November 19, 1993

(Tr 914 • 916) when the court and respective counsel discussed the logistics of deposing Dr. Merin and when he would testify during the penalty phase. Appellant's presence during that brief colloquy was not necessary and Voorhees arrived to be present during the colloquy on penalty phase instructions (Tr 916).

Moreover, there is no reversible error in a defendant's absence when his presence could not have assisted counsel in arguing motions. **Beltran-Lopez** v. State, 583 So. 2d 1030 (Fla. 1991); **Roberts** v. State, 510 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1987); Garcia v. State, 492 So. 2d 360 (Fla. 1986); **Parker** v. State, 641 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 1994).

Appellant complains that he was not present on the morning of November 22, 1993, during the discussion of the schedule for the proceeding (Tr 973 - 987), prior to the testimony of Mr. Lawless. The record does not reflect that Mr. Voorhees was absent, no one objected or complained or asserted that he was absent, nor was such a ground asserted in Voorhees' motion for new trial (R 332 - 335). This claim is procedurally barred for the failure to present to the trial court.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE AT GUILT PHASE THE KNIFE TAKEN FROM APPELLANT IN MISSISSIPPI?

At trial, crime scene technician Boekeloo identified state's exhibits 2 • 4 (B 1, B 2 and B 3) as three knives that he impounded from the residence of murder victim Bostic (Tr 404 • 408). Deputy sheriff Bilmer Walker testified that he took a knife off of appellant (who was using the name Densmore) that he had stuffed down in the short pocked and later turned it over to Detective Lawless (Tr 487). When the state offered this knife -- Exhibit GG -- into evidence, the defense objected on relevancy grounds and the prosecutor responded that it circumstantially showed that the knife was taken from the crime scene (Tr 491) and that it could have been used on the victim by Voorhees and/or Sager (Tr 492). The court temporarily kept the exhibit out of evidence and reserved ruling (Tr 495, 497).

In his taped interview with Detective Lawless, the following colloquy occurred:

Q: "How come there were so many knives in the room there? There was more than the one knife. There was a knife at another location in the room that also had blood on it. How did that come into play or do you know?"

A: "I don't remember. The only one I remember is the white-handled knife that had like uh like uh serrated edges,"

O: "A white-handled knife?"

A. "If I remember it, yeah, it's white, white-handled knife, I know the blade had a serrated edge."

Q: "Is that the same knife that was in Johnny's possession?"

A: "No that knife that's out here is in my possession. That was in the car, I found that in the car."

Q: "That was in your possession?"

A: "Yeah. "

Q: "We haven't . . . we haven't had a chance to talk with the officers that already spoke with you or that **uh** bought you in last night because they went home for the evening, so that's why I'm asking you these questions again But that's not the same then?"

A: "No sir."

O: "You left that knife there at the scene?"

A: "Yes sir, with a rag around it."

When the state sought to introduce this knife which Lawless obtained from Walker, the prosecutor argued:

Mr. Attridge: He says he got the knife from the car, so he's got his taking a knife along from the defendant, which was from the car, so we're placing him now in the car, by his own admission, And it's been tied into the theft, the robbery of this offense and, you known, he's part of this. Part of this is it's felony murder, robbery being committed; money, the car, other items relating to the defendant. And by his own admission, what better record do you have for placing this as evidence of the crime. He took the knife from the car. So that's evidence of intent to steal that still existed when he was taken into custody on January 8th 1992.

(Tr 600)

Mr. Attridge: during the interview he talks about a white-handled knife that he believes he used in the commission of the murder.

Okay. The knife in question is, I believe, I think is a bone colored. And I think the argument is that he might have confused which knife he actually used. I can see a defense argument right now. Well, there wasn't any white-handled knife ever recovered at the crime scene. Now we've got the Defendant Voorhees in possession of a white-handled knife, by his own statement. That's the one he may have used in the commission of this offense.

So arguably, Judge, he had the murder weapon. And part of this exhibit that we have ties into this.

If you don't allow that, in closing arguments., they're going to be asking, where is that white-handled knife. Well, Judge, it's right here.

(Tr 601 • 602)

* * *

Mr. Attridge: Judge, his own statement said he used and had in his possession a white-handled knife, and this is a white-handled knife.

THE COURT: None of the other knives are white handled to the best of my recollection.

MR. HALKITIS: No, sir. And there's a case, there's one I have here, Sloan versus State, 429 So. 2d 355 and 54. And there's a more recent case I could **find** with a few minutes up in my office which talks about the defendant's possession of a weapon which could have been used during the commission of a crime.

There's a load of Federal cases that I have that I've looked at which all say the same thing. I can give the Court those cites, but let me **find** the other more recent Florida case other than Sloan. Sloan, Judge, set the standard for that proposition, the fact that a defendant has possession of a weapon that could have been used in the murder is relevant and material and should be admitted,

Which you've got here, Judge, is the possibility that he used that knife, there's the possibility that both of them, both individuals, used the knife; that the defendant stabbed him and took the knife with him,

THE COURT: Well, what persuades me here is the fact there's only one white-handled knife that has been introduced. And strangely enough, Mr. Voorhees had possession of it, and he himself says he used a white-handled knife. I guess the State's entitled to argue that.

All right. I'm going to let it in as 39. (Open court).

THE COURT: All right. State's Exhibit GG will come in as Exhibit 39.

(Tr 602 - 604)

A trial court has wide discretion concerning the admissibility of evidence and absent an abuse of discretion a ruling regarding admissibility will not be disturbed on appeal. **Jent** v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981); **Hannon** v. State, 638 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1994); **Gaskin** v. State, 591 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 1991); **Blanco** v. State, 452 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1984); **Welty** v. State, 402 So. 1159 (Fla. 1981). In the instant case, the challenged knife was relevant and admissible, Appellant had mentioned that he remembered the white-handled knife and as the prosecutor and trial court noted below this was the only knife recovered with a white handle. Additionally, even if this knife -- in the possession of Voorhees when invited to spend the night in the Mississippi jail -- was not used as the murder weapon, since appellant admitted having "found" and retained it in the car stolen from Bostic after the murder it is admissible with the other items taken as part of the felony-murder.

See <u>Slater v. State</u>, 316 So. 2d 539 (Fla.1975) (trial court properly admitted two pistols, a .22 caliber which was the murder weapon and a .32 caliber stolen from the motel); <u>United States</u> v. <u>Gandolfo</u>, 577 F.2d 955 (5th Cir. 1978) (no error in admitting sawed off shotgun into evidence

in armed robbery prosecution despite fact that neither photographs of robbery nor description given by witness was sufficient to positively identify shotgun received into evidence as shotgun used in robbery).

Appellant relies on <u>Carter v. State</u>, 560 So, 2d 1166 (Fla. 1990) where the Court discovered harmless error in the introduction into evidence of a gun and a knife that had no relevance to the case. The victim there had died of asphyxiation and the opinion does not suggest that the state had contended that the knife and gun had been stolen from her. He also cites **Amoros v. State**, 531 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 1988) wherein the Court upheld the admissibility of evidence that the defendant had been in possession of a gun (for which he was acquitted of the murder of one Walter Coney), the same gun used a month later to kill Omar **Rivero** (the crime being tried). The **Rivero** murder weapon had been abandoned several miles from the scene and there was no other substantial evidence linking Amoros to the gun in the **Rivero** shooting. Amoros' possession of a gun on a prior occasion and the proof that it was the same weapon used to murder the victim rendered the evidence **relevant.**

Other cases cited by appellant also are inapposite. <u>Huhn v. State</u>, 511 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987) (evidence concerning gun and ATF records of its purchase not linked to offenses charged; "here there is nothing unlawful about Huhn's ownership of the gun and nothing to connect the gun to the crimes for which Huhn was on trial". Id. At 589); <u>Dorsey v. Sate.</u> 613

⁴

That a weapon, standing alone, might not be relevant in those circumstances does not mean that a weapon -- in other circumstances -- cannot have relevance to a case.

So. 2d 1368 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1993) (error to admit photographs of property in defendant's trailer where no connection shown to stolen property charge); **Garcia** v. **State**, 655 So. 2d 194 (**Fla**. 3d DCA 1995) (error to admit holster and \$800 in cash since neither relevant to any portion of the trafficking and conspiracy charges); **Sosa** v. **State**, 639 So. 2d 173 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (.380 bullets retrieved from defendant's car which could not have been fired in the gun fired at victim in attempted murder case and thus were not relevant); **Barrett** v. **State**, 605 So. 2d 560 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (evidence of cash seized at time of arrest two days after drug transaction since there was no connection between seized cash and crime charged).

Finally, any error on this point must be deemed harmless. State v. **Diguilio**, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). In light of Voorhees' admitted culpability in the crime and the physical evidence including possession of the victim's auto, the challenged knife added nothing to the jury's result.

ISSUE IV

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